Case 4:26-cv-00260-O Document1l Filed 03/09/26 Page 10of 12 PagelD 1 B

FW 4Co0D5T9H

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT W
F¥OR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION
GEORGE GILE §
§
Plaintiff, § CIVIL ACTION NO.
\ O § - =
' 4-26CV-260-0
J.P. MORGAN CHASE & CO. § JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
J.JP. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC §
§
Defendants, §
ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

Plaintiff George Gile (“Plaintiff”), by and through his attorneys, bring this action for
damages and other legal and equitable relief from Defendants, J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. and J.P.
Morgan Securities, LLC (collectively “Defendant™), for violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964 (“Title VII™), 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq., The Texas Commission on Human Rights
Act, as amended, Tex. Lab. Code §§ 21.001 ef seq. (“TCHRA™), and any other cause(s) of action
that can be inferred from the facts set forth herein.

INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action brought by Plaintiff seeking damages from Defendant for acts of
discrimination based on sex and sexual orientation. Defendant’s acts of discrimination are in
violation of Title VII, the TCHRA, and any other cause(s) of action that can be inferred from the
facts set forth therein.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which

confers original jurisdiction upon this Court for actions arising under the laws of the United
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States, and pursuant to 28 U.S5.C. §§ 1343(3) and 1343(4), which confer original jurisdiction
upon this Court in a civil action to recover damages or to secure equitable relief (i) under any Act
of Congress providing for the protection of civil rights and (ii) under the Declaratory Judgment
Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 2201; 42 U.8.C. §§ 2000e et seq., as amended.

3. The Court’s supplemental jurisdiction is invoked to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), which
confers supplemental jurisdiction over all non-federal claims arising from a common nucleus of
operative facts such that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article ITI of the
United States Constitution.

4. Venue is proper in this Court in as much as the unlawful employment practices
occurred in this judicial district. Venue is also proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1391(b)(1) and (c), in that Defendant maintains offices, conducts business and resides in this
district.

TIES

5. Plaintiff is a person who has been aggrieved by both Defendant’s actions. He is
and has been, at all relevant times, a citizen of the United States of America and is a resident of
Collin County, Texas.

6. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant, J.P. Morgan
Securities, LLC, and therefore covered by Title VII and the TCHRA.

7. Defendant, J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC is a subsidiary company of Defendant,
J.P. Morgan Chase and Co., and together operate as a “single employer” or “one entity” (EEOC
v. Simbaki, Ltd., 767 F.3d at 481).

8. Defendant, J.P. Morgan Chase and Co., is a Corporation that operates business

within the State of Texas and within the Northern District of Texas. Defendant, J.P. Morgan
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Chase and Co., operates its Dallas Office at 1900 N. Akard Street, 5th Floor, Dallas, Texas
75201. Upon information and belief, Defendant, J.P. Morgan Chase and Co., employs over
five-hundred (500) persons.

9. Defendant, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, is a Corporation that operates business
within the State of Texas and within the Northern District of Texas. Defendant, J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, operates its Dallas Office at 100 Crescent Ct. #1300, Dallas, Texas 75201. Upon
information and belief, Defendant, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, employs over five-hundred (500)
persons.

10. During all relevant times, both Defendant, J.P. Morgan Chase and Co., and
Defendant, J.P. Morgan Securities LL.C, each have been employers covered by Title VII and the
TCHRA.

EXHAUSTION OF FEDERAL ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

1T, Plaintiff, who has herein alleged claims pursuant to Title VII, has timely filed
complaint of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOQC™),
which constitutes a cross-filing with the Texas Commission on Human Rights.

12, Plaintiff received his Notice of Right to Sue letter from the EEQC, on December
9, 2023, within ninety (90) days of the filing of this Complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

13.  Plaintiff is a male who is sexually attracted to men (bisexual), and who was
previously a Financial Advisor employed by J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC between about
September 12, 2022 and January 5, 2025,

14.  Plaintiff commenced his career in wealth management in April 2008 at Wells

Fargo, where he obtained the necessary licenses to become a registered representative and earned
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the title of “Advisor Recruiter of the Year” within his first year. In 2010, he accepted an offer
from Morgan Stanley, where he thereafter achieved maximum internal designations and held
titles such as Financial Planning Associate and Consulting Group Analyst while working with
ultra-high-net-worth clients. In 2016, despite a ninety percent (90%) failure rate for financial
advisors under forty (40), he successtully built a client book of $54 million with only ten (10)
clients, generating an annual production of $408,000. He consistently exceeded industry metrics
and won the Pacesetter's Club four (4) years in a row before being recruited on September 12,
2022 by Defendant.

15.  Beginning in or around April, 2023, Plaintiff was subjected to explicit
discrimination based on sex (Bostock v. Clayton Ciy., 590 U.S. 644 (2020)) and suffered
significant harm where he lost about half of his previous clientele. Defendant required from
Plaintiff different work tasks than were required from other heterosexual financial advisors in the
Dallas Office, which placed Plaintiff in a hostile work environment and subjected him to
harassment based on his sex and sexual orientation.

16. In and around October, 2022, Wendeline Dill (Director of Marketing for
Defendant, J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC) learned that Plaintiff is a man sexually attracted to men
(bisexual) and began pressuring Plaintiff to market his sexual orientation on his website, and to
create a Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Plus (LGBTQ+) marketing brochure for the
office. Shortly after this, clients, co-workers, and family began to learn of Plaintiff’s sexual
orientation from the website and made harassing and offensive comments towards Plaintiff based
on his sex. On about April 3, 2023 threats and unsafe conditions began around the United States

for LGBTQ+ individuals after a Budweiser promotion was widely published. Shortly thereafter,
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Ms. Dill removed the LGBTQ+ marketing from Plaintiff’s website at Plaintiff's request out of
concern for his and his family’s safety.

17.  Between about May, 2023 and October, 2023, Plaintiff sought to continue his
previous marketing strategy of sponsoring The Dallas Black Tie Dinner, the largest black-tie
dinner in support of the LGBTQ+ community in the U.S., with tickets starting at $500. Plaintiff
requested that Ms. Dill provide marketing funds in support of The Dallas Black Tie Dinner, but
Ms. Dill refused. Ms. Dill began to continuously pressure Plaintiff (i) to return the LGBTQ+
marketing materials to Plaintiff’s website, (if) to provide the LGBTQ+ brochure specifically to
his LGBTQ+ identifying clients, and (iii) to conduct LGBTQ+ seminars, despite Plaintiff’s
professional advice that these were not effective means of marketing to his clients, and further
that he had continued concerns for his and his family’s safety. Ms. Dill did not request these
same marketing strategies from other co-workers in the office who were heterosexual financial
advisors. Defendant continued to withhold help and resources because Plaintiff would not
continue the LGBTQ+ marketing strategy demanded by Ms. Dill

18.  In or around, February, 2024, Plaintiff met in person in the Dallas office with his
supervisors, David Jernigan (North Texas Regional Director for Defendant, J.P. Morgan
Securities, LLC) and David Fitzgerald (North Texas Assistant Regional Director for Defendant,
J.P. Morgan Securities, LLC). Mr. Jernigan became belligerent towards Plaintiff, expressing
through curse words and profanity of his anger for Plaintiff’s lack of cooperation with Ms. Dill’s
LGBTQ+ marketing strategies, despite (i) Plaintiff’s continued concerns for his and his family’s
safety, and (ii) his professional belief that the strategies advocated by Ms. Dill were
counter-productive and would not be successful. Mr. Jernigan demanded that Plaintiff partner

with Joseph Hahn (Dallas Office Executive Director of Tax Planning for Defendant, J.P. Morgan
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Securities, LL.C), pressuring Plaintiff to work with him because Mr. Hahn was also a man
sexually attracted to men (homosexual).

19. This recommendation subjected Plaintiff to a hostile work environment, including
sexual harassment from a supervisor, Mr. Hahn. Plaintiff communicated with Mr. Hahn, as
strongly recommended by Mr. Jernigan. The initial conversations between Plaintiff and Mr.
Hahn were solely relating to meeting dates and times. Eventually, Mr. Hahn and Plaintiff met in
person. Thereafter, Mr. Gile received a message via Defendant’s internal messaging system
SKYPE from Mr. Hahn that said “You are a hotty, and I bet you’re going to fuck a lot this
weekend.” During their conversation later in that week, Mr, Hahn and Plaintiff discussed
marketing strategies. At an LGBTQ+ business luncheon, Mr. Hahn sent Plaintiff a personal text
wherein Mr. Hahn wanted to fuck a twink over a table. Plaintiff ignored the text. That same night
Mr. Hahn sent a text to Plaintiff, in which Mr. Hahn complained that he was “horny”
accompanied by digital photographs of naked men. Plaintiff provided no indication that he
wanted these type of advances or harassment and, in speaking to Mr. Hahn, Plaintiff tried to
deflect his comments and to only discuss finances and work. Plaintiff was not physically
attracted to Mr. Hahn, thus these advances were creepy and personally and professionally
disruptive.

20, By around February, 2024, the transfer team and advisor of Defendant had failed
to transfer multiple accounts for Plaintiff’s clients from Morgan Stanley. Plaintiff brought
documentation of these issues and FINRA compliance concerns to Mr. Jernigan and Mr.
Fitzgerald, who responded with something similar to “Maybe if you bring in more money, we
will help you”. Defendant continued to fail to abide by FINRA compliance for Plaintiff’s clients

because Plaintiff would not continue the LGBTQ+ marketing strategy demanded by Ms. Dill.
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21.  Before about February, 2024 Plaintifi”s Terms and Conditions of employment
included a Travel and Expenses (“T&E”) budget of $10,000 for each year, 2023 and 2024, and
was determined based on an agreed provision of employment and emails in or around July 6,
2022. However, aiter about February, 2024 Plaintiff was subjected to discriminatory retaliation
of a significant reduction in T&E budget where he only received $1,000 for the entire year of
2024. Defendant failed to provide Plaintiff his remaining $9,000 T&E budget for the remainder
of the 2024 year because Plaintiff would not continue the LGBTQ+ marketing strategy
demanded by Ms. Dill.

22, In and around March, 2024, Defendant began placing Plaintiff in a position of
violating FINRA compliance rules or risk losing his employment. Plaintiff was moved out of his
VP office into a shared office with his business partner and only one computer. Defendant did
not provide a computer that Plaintiff could use in his office, despite strict data protection,
security, and privacy FINRA rules that prevent Plaintiff from using a personal computer or
sharing a computer with a colleague. Additionally, transfer paperwork for one of Plaintiff’s
clients was found in a drawer without any privacy protection in violation of FINRA compliance
rules. Plaintiff’s client became upset and withdrew from services with Plaintiff and Defendant.

23. In and around June, 2024, a co-worker at the Dallas office exited from their
employment with Defendant and with it a portfolio of clientele of about $590,000,0000. These
accounts were provided first priority to heterosexual financial advisors less experienced than
Plaintiff within the office; Plaintiff received no clients from this book of business. Plaintiff was
denied access to new clients and lost nearly half of his clients due to the hostile work

environment and retaliation of Defendant.
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24.  Plaintiff reported this discriminatory retaliation to his management, namely, Mr,
Jernnigan, Mr. Fitzgerald, and Human Resources. However, management agreed with the
discriminatory retaliation and the policy decisions remained in place.

25.  On or about January, 2025, a doctor diagnosed Plaintiff with a perforated ulcer
due to the stress from this employment, where and thereafter he spent several days in the ICU in
the hospital and several months healing at home. Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff resigned from his
position with Defendant on January 5, 2025, due to the discrimination based on his sex, hostile
work environment, retaliation, and constructive discharge.

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION FOR A VIOLATION OF

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e ef seq.
(Discrimination)

26.  Plaintiff is a member of a protected class and repeat and re-allege the allegations
contained in the paragraphs above, as if fully set forth herein.

27.  The conduct alleged herein violates Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000¢ ef seq., as Defendants have engaged in the practice of
discrimination with respect to the terms and conditions of Plaintiff’s employment.

28.  Plaintiff requests for relief as set forth below.

F LCOND CA ACTIO OLAT:
The Texas Employment Discrimination Act, as amended, Tex. Lab. Code §§ ef seq.
{Discrimination)
29.  Plaintiff is a member of a protected class and repeats and re-alleges that

allegations contained in the paragraphs above, as if fully set forth herein.

ORIGINAL COMPLAINT



Case 4:26-cv-00260-O Document1 Filed 03/09/26  Page 9 of 12 PagelD 9

30.  The conduct alleged herein violates the Texas Employment Discrimination Act, as
amended, Tex. Lab. Code §§ 21.001 ef seq., as Defendants have engaged in the practice of
discrimination with respect to the terms and conditions of Plaintiff”s employment.

31.  Plaintiff requests for relief as set forth below.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgement against Defendants as follows:

A. A judgment declaring that the practices complained of herein are unlawful and in
violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended and 42 U.S.C. § 2000e
ef seq., and the Texas Employment Discrimination Act, as amended, Tex. Lab, Code §§
21.001 et seq.;

B. All damages which Plaintiff has sustained as a result of Defendant’s conduct including
back pay, front pay, benefits, general and specific damages for lost compensation, and job
benefits he would have received but for Defendant’s discriminatory practices, and for
emotional distress, humiliation, embarrassment, and anguish;

C. Forgiveness for any remaining debt or monies owed on any Promissory Note attached to
Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant;

D. Exemplary and punitive damages in an amount commensurate with Defendant’s ability
and so as to deter future malicious, reckless, and/or intentional conduct;

E. Awarding Plaintiff the costs and disbursements incurred in connection with this action,
including reasonable attorney’s fees, expert witness fees and other costs;

F. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, as provided by law;

G. Dismissal, with prejudice, of all claims by Defendants before FINRA relating to, or

arising from, Plaintiff’s employment with Defendants; and
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H. Granting Plaintiff’s other and fusther relief as this Court finds necessary and proper.
Plaintiff also seek injunctive relief, including, but not limited to:

[. Training on the subject of employment discrimination for all of Defendant’s employees;

J. Diversity and sensitivity training for all management employees conducted by reputable
outside vendors;

K. Supervisory discipline up to and including termination for any supervisor who engages in
unlawful discrimination;

L. Active monitoring of the work areas to ensure compliance with discrimination policies;

M. That the Coutt retain jurisdiction over Defendant until such time as it is satisfied that they
have remedied the practices complained of and are determined to be in full compliance
with the law.
Plaintiff further demands that they be awarded such other and further legal and equitable

relief as may be found appropriate and as the Court may deem just or equitable.

Dated: March 6, 2026 Respectfully submitted,

{s/ Kandi Gilder
Kandi Gilder
Attorney At Law
SBN: 24130161

Gold Legal, PLL.C

640 Taylor St. Ste. 1200

Fort Worth, TX 76102

Office: 817-627-5498
Kandi@goldlegaldefense.com
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